

# Evaluating Artifact Quality from an Appraisal Perspective

Emanuel R. Baker Matthew J. Fisher Charlene C. Gross Gerald W. Miller, Editor

November 2009

TECHNICAL NOTE CMU/SEI-2009-TN-021

Acquisition Support Program Unlimited distribution subject to the copyright.

http://www.sei.cmu.edu



**Carnegie Mellon** 

This report was prepared for the

SEI Administrative Agent ESC/XPK 5 Eglin Street Hanscom AFB, MA 01731-2100

The ideas and findings in this report should not be construed as an official DoD position. It is published in the interest of scientific and technical information exchange.

This work is sponsored by the U.S. Department of Defense. The Software Engineering Institute is a federally funded research and development center sponsored by the U.S. Department of Defense.

Copyright 2009 Carnegie Mellon University.

#### NO WARRANTY

THIS CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY AND SOFTWARE ENGINEERING INSTITUTE MATERIAL IS FURNISHED ON AN "AS-IS" BASIS. CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY MAKES NO WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, AS TO ANY MATTER INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, WARRANTY OF FITNESS FOR PURPOSE OR MERCHANTABILITY, EXCLUSIVITY, OR RESULTS OBTAINED FROM USE OF THE MATERIAL. CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY DOES NOT MAKE ANY WARRANTY OF ANY KIND WITH RESPECT TO FREEDOM FROM PATENT, TRADEMARK, OR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT.

Use of any trademarks in this report is not intended in any way to infringe on the rights of the trademark holder.

Internal use. Permission to reproduce this document and to prepare derivative works from this document for internal use is granted, provided the copyright and "No Warranty" statements are included with all reproductions and derivative works.

External use. This document may be reproduced in its entirety, without modification, and freely distributed in written or electronic form without requesting formal permission. Permission is required for any other external and/or commercial use. Requests for permission should be directed to the Software Engineering Institute at permission@sei.cmu.edu.

This work was created in the performance of Federal Government Contract Number FA8721-05-C-0003 with Carnegie Mellon University for the operation of the Software Engineering Institute, a federally funded research and development center. The Government of the United States has a royalty-free government-purpose license to use, duplicate, or disclose the work, in whole or in part and in any manner, and to have or permit others to do so, for government purposes pursuant to the copyright license under the clause at 252.227-7013.

## **Table of Contents**

1	Introduction		
2	Terminology		
	2.1 Entities—Quality of What	2	
	2.2 Quality (What Do We Mean by Quality?)	2	
3	A Review of Appraisers' Opinions	4	
4	Judging Artifact Quality during an Appraisal		
	4.1 Artifacts	5	
	4.2 Simple Example	6	
5	Conclusions		
Refer	rences/Bibliography	8	

# Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Mary Catherine Ward and Fred Schenker for their insights, careful review and comments.

## Abstract

A question currently being argued throughout the appraisal community concerns evaluation of artifact quality during Standard CMMI<sup>®</sup> Appraisal Method for Process Improvement (SCAMPI<sup>SM</sup>) appraisals. Different, conflicting opinions on whether evaluation of artifact quality during a SCAMPI is appropriate run from an extremely vigorous "no" to an equally vigorous "yes!" In other words, some lead appraisers and teams believe artifact quality is totally outside the scope of a SCAMPI appraisal. Other appraisers and teams believe that evaluating artifact quality is an integral part of the SCAMPI.

This technical note examines the various opinions in an attempt to resolve the confusion.

The main issue appears to be linked to word definitions—specifically, a lack of agreement among SCAMPI lead appraisers about what "quality" means in the SCAMPI context. This report notes that earlier writings on the subject focus on the problem of defining the attributes of artifact quality in appraisals. Three attributes—appropriate, adequate, and reasonable—are recognized throughout the community as applicable to the quality of artifacts. However, these attributes are not defined, creating the opportunity to apply subjective rules where objectivity is critical. With this information in hand, we can initiate an effort to provide more clear-cut, succinct guidance on the application of quality attributes to appraisal artifacts. This effort will enable Lead Appraisers and team members to inject greater objectivity into appraisals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>®</sup> CMMI is registered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office by Carnegie Mellon University.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>SM</sup> SCAMPI is a service mark of Carnegie Mellon University.

## **1** Introduction

A question currently being argued throughout the appraisal community concerns evaluation of artifact quality during Standard CMMI Appraisal Method for Process Improvement (SCAMPI<sup>SM</sup>) appraisals. Different, conflicting opinions on whether evaluation of artifact quality during a SCAMPI is appropriate run from an extremely vigorous "no" to an equally vigorous "yes!" In other words, some SCAMPI Lead Appraisers <sup>SM</sup> and teams believe artifact quality is totally outside the scope of a SCAMPI appraisal. Other appraisers and teams believe that artifact quality is an integral part of the SCAMPI.

This technical note examines the various opinions in an attempt to resolve the confusion. We seek an answer to the following question:

Following the current SCAMPI methodology, can and should the Lead Appraiser and appraisal teams judge the quality of artifacts examined during the appraisal?

To explore the question, we have to understand several aspects surrounding quality and associated terminology:

- What do we mean by quality with respect to artifacts examined during an appraisal?
- What quality attributes does the SCAMPI Method allow to be applied to artifacts, if any?
- What would be the effect of applying the quality attributes to artifacts during a SCAMPI?

We postulate that the issues noted above stem from the lack of precise definitions of terms in appraisal documentation related to the word "quality." To correct this, we introduce, in Section 2, terms that establish a context for the subsequent discussions of quality. In Section 3 we note assertions made by the appraisal community that reflect some differences in that community's thinking about what appraisals can accomplish in determining process quality. Section 4 examines these opinions in light of the current appraisal methodology in a SCAMPI.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>SM</sup> SCAMPI and SCAMPI Lead Appraiser are service marks of Carnegie Mellon University.

## 2 Terminology

In this section, we introduce and define terminology related to the issue of artifact evaluation, specifically the term *quality*.

#### 2.1 Entities—Quality of What

The first question to answer: What entity are we seeking to evaluate for quality during an appraisal? Baker identifies several, such as product, process, artifact, activity, and service, to which we can apply quality evaluations [Baker 2007]. Certainly other entities exist for this application; the concept of quality is generally applicable to almost anything, tangible or intangible. Each entity may have very different quality attributes being evaluated depending on one's perspective. An appraiser must first identify the entity or entities for which the quality is to be evaluated—and, critically, the associated quality attributes to examine to establish an evaluation approach.

From Baker and the question at hand, the following is the focus of our discussions:

- Artifacts that make up the direct or indirect objective evidence are the entities whose quality we wish to attempt to judge.
- The SCAMPI Method Definition Document (MDD) can provide a list of the needed quality attributes that can be applied to the artifacts for a more objective quality evaluation than can be obtained through the consensus of individual teams.
- This evaluation approach can result in support for reporting on the quality of the artifacts as part of the appraisal. (How to use this information is a decision left to the organization being appraised.)

#### 2.2 Quality (What Do We Mean by Quality?)

Cooper provides an operational definition of quality:

*Quality is the degree to which an object (entity) [e.g., process, product, or service] satisfies a specified set of attributes or requirements* [Cooper 2002].

This identifies "specified requirements" as the quality attributes to be used. The attributes or requirements are to be specified and must adhere to the normal rules for requirements description such as being consistent, clearly stated, testable, or measurable (quantitative in some way).

Significant here is the concept of completely defining the quality attributes being sought. In order to understand the quality of an entity, the context<sup>1</sup> for the quality attributes must be defined and specified. This concept is embedded in the following statement:

Just as beauty is in the eye of the beholder, so is quality [Baker 2007].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Context includes criteria to define quality in quantitative terms and the associated measurements of quality.

Consequently, a set of attributes that one community deems important as a measure of quality may not be deemed important by another community. Rather, each community is likely to have its own set of attributes and attribute values with which to measure quality. This point becomes critical when organizations are asked to establish baselines and prediction models used to help manage statistically the product's quality and process performance during development.

Overall we must describe the entire context of the quality we are looking for to be able to measure or otherwise judge the quality of an entity.

We explore these quality concepts next in the context of appraisals.

## 3 A Review of Appraisers' Opinions

The following statements summarize opinions of the appraisal community on the subject of whether an appraisal evaluates artifact quality.

Some Lead Appraisers and teams assert the following:

An appraisal team does indeed evaluate the quality of an artifact. Since the CMMI practices describe the characteristics of effective processes, artifacts that address implementation of these practices are, by definition, effective. Since effectiveness is a quality attribute, the artifact is subject to an evaluation of quality.

Other Lead Appraisers and teams profess the following approach:

Quality attributes such as effectiveness are reserved for practice execution. If quality attributes apply to process and practice execution, and the artifact is entirely separate from practice execution, then there are no quality attributes that can be applied to the artifacts.

Still other Lead Appraisers and teams assert the following view:

Sooner or later the appraisal team must establish a consensus view on what is reasonable to expect, since it is only the presence of that consensus view that permits a determination of practice implementation to be made. Artifacts are typically judged for "adequacy" as an indication of their quality, where "adequacy" depends on the experience of the team.

These statements illustrate some of the confusion surrounding evaluation of artifact quality.

## 4 Judging Artifact Quality during an Appraisal

#### 4.1 Artifacts

Appraisals require examination of artifacts because artifacts are considered evidence of model practice implementation of a process. Three terms are part of the appraisal community's perception of how to characterize these artifacts: *appropriate, adequate, and reasonable*. As such, they may be considered the quality attributes of the artifacts the appraisal examines.

An artifact is typically considered "appropriate" if it is applicable to the practice it represents. Thus, a requirements specification would not be appropriate to represent the output of the practice "develop a project plan."

Of the three terms, only "adequacy" is further elaborated in the SCAMPI MDD as "adequate to substantiate the implementation of a practice" [MDD 2007].

However, there does not seem to be any further definition of each of these terms in the MDD. The presumption by many is that the appraisal team would apply their experience to help determine the definition and be able to judge the quality of the artifact.

Thus, evaluation of an artifact's "adequacy" depends on the experience of the team, and as asserted, "Beauty is in the eye of the beholder."

Lastly, the team might be able to define "*reasonableness*" of the artifact. But that takes us again into subjective evaluation of artifacts. This is similar to the above evaluation of artifact adequacy being dependent on the experience of the appraisal team.

Definitions of quality attributes in the CMMI<sup>®</sup>-DEV glossary do not provide relief or additional insight. For "adequate" the glossary states the following:

This word is used so that you can interpret goals and practices in light of your organization's business objectives. When using any CMMI model, you must interpret the practices so that they work for your organization. This term is used in the goals and practices where certain activities may not be done all the time. (See also "appropriate" and "as needed.")

The terms "appropriate" and "as needed" in the CMMI glossary simply repeat the above statement and are therefore treated as synonyms for adequate. The statement itself is not a definition in the usual sense, but it does illustrate that an organization can or should use the terms relative to the practices it implements. For example, if an organization defines an artifact as being adequate relative to its business goals, can the appraisal team judge the artifact otherwise? (Since "appropriate" and "as needed" are used synonymously, this fact could also be a confusion factor.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>®</sup> CMMI is registered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office by Carnegie Mellon University.

#### 4.2 Simple Example

A simple analogy is to apply the three terms to the following scenario. We will use the following practice as an example:

#### Have a substantial breakfast before 9 a.m.

During the appraisal, the team identified an artifact that shows that the organization has a substantial dinner after 4 p.m. This artifact is not considered appropriate because it does not relate to the practice. Further it does not substantiate implementation of the practice, so it is not adequate. The quality of this artifact's attributes is considered substandard.

Therefore, we may conclude that the artifact is neither appropriate nor adequate.

Being a conscientious group, the appraisal team continues to look for and finds another artifact to address the breakfast requirement. It turns out to be an empty glass that once held milk, and the organization confirms that its employee breakfast consists only of milk. The artifact is appropriate because it addresses breakfast; and it is adequate to substantiate the implementation of the practice. But is it reasonable to accept a glass of milk as the sole ingredient for a substantial breakfast? Who will determine this?

Using the team's collective experience and knowledge of the ingredients of a substantial breakfast, the decision is likely to be that this artifact cannot be considered reasonable as proof of a substantial breakfast.

Note that our practice example can be translated any number of ways depending on culture and common practice. Likewise, organizations can implement practices any number of ways, based on business objectives. If the organization states that a glass of milk is its definition of a substantial breakfast, what will the appraisal team decide? Without a quantitative basis to explain this and any other term, there is no way to provide objective basis for team judgment and defense of team judgment. There is an argument that if the organization uses the artifact, then it is deemed reasonable. However, appraisal teams must be careful that the "use" is then reasonable to ensure the organization doesn't just state that the artifact is used.

Of course, even for this example there are other scenarios surrounding the artifacts that we could pursue.

### 5 Conclusions

Let's consider the original question: Can and should an appraisal team evaluate the quality of artifacts discovered during SCAMPI appraisals? We believe the answer is a qualified yes. There are three attributes—appropriate, adequate, and reasonable—that are recognized throughout the community as appropriate to apply to artifact quality. These three attributes are repeated throughout the documentation for conducting the SCAMPI family of appraisals (A, B, and C), as well as throughout the CMMI model itself.

However, a close review of documents that guide appraisal teams shows that these quality attributes have been designated but never clearly defined. The CMMI-DEV glossary uses the same definition to define the terms adequate, appropriate and a third term—"as needed." This glossary does not include the term reasonable, so the Webster Dictionary definition of the term takes precedence, according to CMMI rules for definitions. That definition of "reasonable" is (a) "being in accordance with reason (a *reasonable* theory) and (b) not extreme or excessive.<sup>2</sup> Applying this definition to our earlier breakfast example, we can say that it is not reasonable to define a glass of milk as a *substantial* breakfast; and therefore, the artifact does not support the quality attribute of being reasonable.

Unfortunately, we are still left without a definitive explanation for the terms "adequate" and "appropriate." There have been indications in some of the literature that this lack of explanation was a conscious decision to allow the terms to apply to a variety of environments and a variety of approaches. However, the lack of definition creates the opportunity to apply subjective rules where objectivity is critical.

We recommend that further research be conducted to determine the requirements used by the community to define artifact quality attributes. We also suggest that a review of the literature may also provide material on commonly held definitions for these terms in the context of a SCAMPI appraisal. With this information in hand, we can initiate an effort to provide more clear-cut and succinct guidance on the application of quality attributes to appraisal artifacts. The results of this effort will enable Lead Appraisers and team members to inject greater objectivity into the appraisal process and to build a firmer foundation for evaluating the quality of artifacts that they must review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Definition from Merriam-Webster's Online Dictionary (http://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/reasonable)

## **References/Bibliography**

URLs are valid as of the publication date of this document.

#### [Baker 2007]

Baker, E.; Fisher, Matthew A.; & Goethert, Wolfhart. *Basic Principles and Concepts for Achiev-ing Quality* (CMU/SEI-2007-TN-002). Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2007.

http://www.sei.cmu.edu/publications/documents/07.reports/07tn002.html

#### [Charette 2004]

Charette, Robert; Dwinnell, Laura; & McGarry, John. "Understanding the Roots of Process Performance Failure." *CrossTalk* (August 2004):18-22.

#### [Chrissis 2006]

Chrissis, M. B.; Konrad, M; & Shrum, S. *CMMI: Guidelines for Process Integration and Product Improvement, 2nd ed.* Addison-Wesley, 2006.

#### [Cooper 2002]

Cooper, J. & Fisher, M., eds. *Software Acquisition Capability Maturity Model (SA-CMM) Version 1.03* (CMU/SEI-2002-TR-010, ADA399794). Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2002. http://www.sei.cmu.edu/publications/documents/02.reports/02tr010.html

#### [MDD 2007]

SCAMPI Upgrade Team. *Standard CMMI Appraisal Method for Process Improvement (SCAMPI) A, Version 1.2: Method Definition Document* (CMU/SEI-2006-HB-002, ADA454685). Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2006. http://www.sei.cmu.edu/publications/documents/06.reports/06hb002.html

9 | CMU/SEI-2009-TN-021

R	EPORT DOCUMI	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188				
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, search- ing existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regard- ing this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188), Washington, DC 20503.						
1.	AGENCY USE ONLY	2. REPORT DATE		3. REPORT TYPE AND DATES		
	(Leave Blank)	November 2009		COVERED		
				Final		
4.	TITLE AND SUBTITLE		5. FUNDING NUMBERS			
	Evaluating Artifact Quality from an Appraisal Perspective		FA8721-05-C-0003			
6.	AUTHOR(S)					
	Emanuel R. Baker, Matthew J. Fisher, Charlene C. Gross, & Gerald W. Miller, Editor					
7.	PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION		
	Software Engineering Institute		REPORT NUMBER			
	Carnegie Mellon University			CMU/SEI-2009-TN-021		
	Pittsburgh, PA 15213					
9.	SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		10. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER			
	HQ ESC/XPK			AGENCY REPORT NUMBER		
	5 Eglin Street Hanscom AFB, MA 01731-2116					
11	SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES					
	SUFF LEWENTAKT NUTES					
124	12A DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 12B DISTRIBUTION CODE					
12/1	Unclassified/Unlimited, DTIC, NTIS					
13	ABSTRACT (MAXIMUM 200 WORDS)					
	A question currently being argued throughout the appraisal community concerns evaluation of artifact quality during Standard CMMI Appraisal Method for Process Improvement (SCAMPI) appraisals. Different, conflicting opinions on whether evaluation of artifact quality during a SCAMPI is appropriate run from an extremely vigorous "no" to an equally vigorous "yes!" In other words, some lead appraisers and teams believe artifact quality is totally outside the scope of a SCAMPI appraisal. Other appraisers and teams believe that evaluating artifact quality is an integral part of the SCAMPI.					
	This technical note examines the various opinions in an attempt to resolve the confusion.					
	The main issue appears to be linked to word definitions—specifically, a lack of agreement among SCAMPI lead appraisers about what "quality" means in the SCAMPI context. This report notes that earlier writings on the subject focus on the problem of defining the attrib- utes of artifact quality in appraisals. Three attributes—appropriate, adequate, and reasonable—are recognized throughout the communi- ty as applicable to the quality of artifacts. However, these attributes are not defined, creating the opportunity to apply subjective rules where objectivity is critical. With this information in hand, we can initiate an effort to provide more clear-cut, succinct guidance on the ap- plication of quality attributes to appraisal artifacts. This effort will enable Lead Appraisers and team members to inject greater objectivity into appraisals.					
14.	SUBJECT TERMS		15. NUMBER OF PAGES			
	Process improvement, SCAMPI, quality, appraisal		18			
16. PRICE CODE						
17.	SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE	19. SECURITY CLASSI OF ABSTRACT	IFICATION 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT		
	Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	UL		
NSN	I 7540-01-280-5500	1	Standard Form 298 (Re 298-102	ev. 2-89) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39-18	8	